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INSIDER TRADING:  THE SEC GETS TOUGH 

The SEC is pushing the envelope with new theories to expand the reach of Rule 10b-5, 
new prosecutorial tools imported from the DOJ, and new specialized units to aid 
enforcement.  Two circuit courts have sustained the Commission's theories, and 
Enforcement Director Khuzami claims that the initiatives have enabled the SEC to close 
significantly more insider trading cases this past year.  

By Marc D. Powers * 

The SEC has engaged in high-profile attempts over the 
past two years to increase prosecutions and convictions 
for insider trading, to mixed results. The reinvigorated 
Commission has employed several strategies in the wake 
of the 2007 - 2008 financial crisis and the multibillion 
dollar Bernard Madoff/Robert Allen Stanford/Tom 
Petters Ponzi scheme discoveries.  This article will 
discuss two broad areas in which the SEC has pursued 
an expanded enforcement agenda:  the Commission’s 
push for new legal bases for liability for insider trading, 
and its use of and efforts to deploy new methods and 
technologies to uncover insider trading schemes.  These 
trends are particularly highlighted by the recent Fifth 
Circuit decision on September 21, 2010, in the SEC v. 
Mark Cuban case, as well as in the recent actions taken 
by the SEC and the U.S. Attorney’s Office stemming 
from the Galleon case. 

RECENT EXPANSION OF LEGAL THEORIES 

Expansion of the Misappropriation Theory: Liability 
of Outsiders Possessing Inside Information 

Under the misappropriation theory of insider trading, 
first adopted by the Supreme Court in United States v. 
O’Hagan,1 “a person commits fraud ‘in connection with’ 
a securities transaction . . . when he misappropriates 
confidential information for securities trading purposes, 
in breach of a duty owed to the source of the 
information.”2  The blurry contours of that duty and 
liability were outlined with more precision when, 
———————————————————— 
1 521 U.S. 642 (1997). 
2 Id. at 652. 
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following O’Hagan in 2000, the SEC adopted Rule 
10b5-2.  This rule provides that a “duty of trust or 
confidence” (which is necessary for insider trading 
liability on a misappropriation theory) exists when there 
is an extant family relationship or “[w]henever a person 
agrees to maintain information in confidence[.]”3  The 
legality specifically of Rule 10b5-2(b)(1) is now in the 
crosshairs in the SEC’s 2008 case against Mark Cuban, 
the outspoken entrepreneur billionaire and owner of the 
Dallas Mavericks, which was recently addressed on 
appeal by the Fifth Circuit. 

The SEC brought its case against Cuban on a 
misappropriation theory, but the suit was dismissed in 
2009 by the US District Court for the Northern District 
of Texas on a conservative reading of Section 10(b), the 
fountainhead of the misappropriation theory.  On 
September 21, 2010, the Fifth Circuit vacated the lower 
court’s ruling, which found the elements for insider 
trading lacking, and remanded for further fact-finding.  
If the Cuban case reaches appellate review again, it 
could, along with another circuit court ruling in 2009 
(SEC v. Dorozhko, discussed below), redefine important 
aspects of the SEC’s authority under Section 10(b).  
Accordingly, a careful consideration of the factual and 
legal issues involved is warranted and is discussed 
below. 

In 2004, Cuban purchased a 6.3% stake in the search 
engine website Mamma.com.  Shortly thereafter, 
Mamma.com’s CEO called Cuban, and after receiving 
Cuban’s promise of confidentiality, the CEO advised 
him of an impending PIPE (private investment in public 
equity) offering by the company to solicit Cuban’s 
interest in the investment opportunity.  Cuban, aware 
that the offering would dilute his stake in the company, 
remonstrated against being told of the impending 
offering, exclaiming that “now I’m screwed. I can’t 
sell.”  In a subsequent phone call, during which Cuban 
advised the CEO he was not interested in the PIPE, the 
CEO and Cuban agreed that it would be illegal for 
Cuban to sell, based on the material, non-public nature 
of the information.  Nevertheless, Cuban immediately 
thereafter proceeded to sell his shares at an average of 

$13.24 a share.  After the PIPE was announced, the 
stock price plummeted to $11.89, and Cuban avoided a 
loss of $750,000. 

———————————————————— 
———————————————————— 
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3 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5-2(b)(1). 

As noted earlier, the SEC filed a complaint against 
Cuban, arguing that Cuban, because of his 
confidentiality agreement with the CEO of Mamma.com, 
was liable under the misappropriation theory.4  Cuban 
responded that for liability under the misappropriation 
theory, the confidentiality agreement must arise in “the 
context of a preexisting fiduciary or fiduciary-like 
relationship,” or “a relationship that bears all the 
hallmarks of a traditional fiduciary relationship.” 

In dismissing the SEC’s complaint, the trial court 
explained that “trading on the basis of material, non-
public information cannot be deceptive unless the trader 
is under a legal duty to refrain from trading on or 
otherwise using it for personal benefit.”5  The court 
recognized that “a duty sufficient to support liability 
under the misappropriation theory can arise by 
agreement absent a preexisting fiduciary or fiduciary-
like relationship” but that such an agreement must 
consist of more than a promise to keep information 
confidential.  The court distinguished a promise of non-
disclosure from a promise of non-use, and explained that 
for liability to arise, both must be part of the agreement.  
Deceptive conduct under Section 10(b) arises only when 
there is a violation of the agreement not to use the non-
public information for trading purposes.  Because Cuban 
made no such promise, and because the court held that 
the SEC did not allege such a specific promise, the court 
dismissed the complaint, holding that the allegations in 
the complaint were insufficient to make out a violation 
of Section 10(b). 

That court’s holding on whether the misappropriation 
theory requires more of a fiduciary relationship and 
duty, arguably consistent with the literal readings of 
Supreme Court precedent, led it to hold further that the 
SEC overstepped its rulemaking authority in 
promulgating Rule 10b5-2(b)(1): 

4 SEC v. Cuban, 634 F. Supp. 2d 713, 721 (N.D.Tex, 2009). 
5 Id. at 724.  



 
 
 
 
 

Because Rule 10b5-2(b)(1) attempts to 
predicate misappropriation theory liability 
on a mere confidentiality agreement 
lacking a non-use component, the SEC 
cannot rely on it to establish Cuban's 
liability under the misappropriation 
theory.  To permit liability based on Rule 
10b5-2(b)(1) would exceed the SEC's § 
10(b) authority to proscribe conduct that is 
deceptive.6

The Fifth Circuit, however, has indicated that neither 
the facts nor the law were as clear as the lower court 
held.  In vacating the district court’s ruling, Circuit 
Judge Higginbotham found “more than a plausible basis 
to find that the understanding between the CEO and 
Cuban was that he was not to trade.”7  If the case returns 
to the Fifth Circuit on appeal, and if the court is 
presented with a finding of fact that Cuban had not 
agreed to abstain from trading, then the question of the 
scope of Section 10(b) – and the SEC’s rulemaking 
authority thereunder – will be squarely before the court.  
Undoubtedly, then, Cuban is an interesting case to 
watch. 

Expansion of the Traditional Theory:  Liability 
for Computer Hacking  

In another significant break from the conventional 
application of insider trading law, the Second Circuit in 
SEC v. Dorozhko held that trading on information 
acquired from computer hacking was actionable, even 
when no articulable duty by the hacker existed.8  In 
October 2007, Oleksandr Dorozhko, a Ukrainian 
national and resident, hacked into a server at Thomson 
Financial, a firm hired by IMS Health to provide 
investor relations and web-hosting services.  Dorozhko 
obtained IMS’s earnings reports and then purchased 
$41,670.90 worth of IMS put options set to expire on 
October 25 and 30, 2007.  At 4:33 p.m., IMS announced 
that its earnings per share were 28% below expectations, 
and the next morning IMS’s stock price fell from $29.56 
to $21.20 per share, approximately 28%.  Dorozhko sold 
all of his shares within six minutes of the market 
opening, realizing a gain of $286,456.59. 

The district court for the Southern District of New 
York denied the SEC’s motion for a preliminary 

injunction and concluded that “Dorozhko’s alleged 
‘stealing and trading,’ or ‘hacking and trading’ does not 
amount to a violation . . . because Dorozhko did not 
breach any fiduciary or similar duty ‘in connection with’ 
the purchase or sale of a security.”

———————————————————— 

———————————————————— 

6 Id. at 731. 
7 SEC v. Cuban, Civ. No. 09-10996 (5th Cir. September 21, 

2010). 
8 SEC v. Dorozhko, 574 F.3d 42 (2d Cir. 2009). 

9  Interpreting Rule 
10b-5, the district court held that “device, scheme, or 
artifice to defraud” as interpreted by the Supreme Court 
requires a breach of fiduciary duty.10  As Dorozhko had 
neither professional nor personal ties to IMS Health, it 
would have been nearly impossible to convict him under 
traditional insider trading law, which typically requires 
the existence of a fiduciary relationship.  Certainly, he 
could be criminally charged for other crimes, such as 
theft, but the issue here was solely the contours of the 
insider trading laws.  

On appeal, the SEC did not argue breach of fiduciary 
duty.  Instead, the Commission argued that Dorozhko’s 
computer hacking, which involved various 
misrepresentations, amounted to the fraud of deception 
in violation of Rule 10b-5.  The Second Circuit agreed.  
Despite the apparent novelty of the SEC’s position − the 
court noted that it was “not based on either of the two 
generally accepted theories of insider trading”11 − the 
Second Circuit overturned the district court’s ruling and 
held in favor of the Commission.  The court reasoned 
that no Supreme Court precedent mandated a fiduciary 
duty requirement as an element of every violation of 
Rule 10b-5, opining that “[w]e are aware of no precedent 
of the Supreme Court or our Court that forecloses [this] 
theory of fraud.”12  The court distinguished between 
fraudulent silence in the face of a duty to disclose or 
abstain from trading and the instant case, in which fraud 
occurs by affirmative misrepresentation.  In the latter, 
according to the court, no breach of fiduciary duty is 
required.13

On that legal theory, the court reasoned that 
misrepresenting one’s identity in order to hack into a 
computer system to access private information is clearly 
“deceptive” within the meaning of Section 10(b); 
however, merely exploiting a weakness in a computer 
system may not necessarily be.  The SEC’s case, 
therefore, turned on the means by which Dorozhko 
accessed the computer system.  Accordingly, the Second 

9 SEC v. Dorozhko, 606 F. Supp. 2d 321, 324 (S.D.N.Y. 2008).
10 Id. at 338. 
11 SEC v. Dorozhko, 574 F.3d 42, 45 (2d. Cir. 2009). 
12 Id. at 49. 
13 Id. at 49. 
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Circuit vacated the district court’s ruling and remanded 
the case for further proceedings. 

Despite the court’s assertion to the contrary, the 
holding in Dorozhko represents a radical departure from 
traditional insider trading law, not only because it is the 
first case to hold a person liable for insider trading for 
hacking into a computer system, but also because it 
potentially opens the door for the SEC to prosecute 
where an “affirmative misrepresentation” can be proved 
in lieu of a fiduciary relationship.  Nor does it seem to 
square with Supreme Court precedent, in SEC v. Dirks14 
and United States v. Chiarella,15 where the court found 
the defendants not liable under 10(b) precisely because 
they had no duty to the public company at issue and/or 
did not personally benefit from conveying or receiving 
the confidential information.  Unfortunately, the 
Dorozhko case stalled out at the district court level on 
remand, when the court granted the SEC’s unopposed 
motion for summary judgment, thereby precluding a 
second consideration of the issues for the Second 
Circuit. 

As demonstrated above, the SEC has been successful 
in its use of new legal theories to bring insider trading 
cases.  More enforcement actions involving those 
“deception” theories will likely continue as the 
Commission expands the methods and technologies it 
uses to detect and deter insider trading.  

ENHANCED ENFORCEMENT TOOLS 

In the fall of 2009, SEC Enforcement Director Robert 
Khuzami announced that the SEC is “developing a 
variety of initiatives . . . involving greater specialization 
and expertise, improved technological tools to track and 
analyze trading, better coordination among regulators 
and law enforcement, new legislative initiatives, and 
other means to address these areas.”16  Some of these 
new “game-changer” initiatives (Khuzami’s phrase) 
come from the world of criminal investigation and 
prosecution.  The blockbuster Galleon case, which 
resulted in criminal charges against Raj Rajaratnam in 
October 2009, the billionaire founder of the previously 
enviable hedge fund Galleon Management, made 
headlines because, according to U.S. Attorney Preet 
Bharara, it is “the first time wiretaps have been used to 
target insider trading, signaling the government will now 

use the same tools against Wall Street that it employs in 
organized crime and drug cases.”

———————————————————— 

———————————————————— 

14 463 U.S. 646 (1983). 
15 445 U.S. 222 (1980). 
16 SEC, Spotlight on Insider Trading (Jan. 6, 2010), available at 

http://www.sec.gov/spotlight/insidertrading.shtml. 

17  The SEC 
collaborated with the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the 
Southern District of New York on the case, and recent 
indictments suggest that such collaboration has become 
increasingly common. 

The FBI has been assisting in the spate of raids on 
hedge funds and “expert” research firms that have taken 
place in recent months in the wake of the Galleon case.  
This initiative demonstrates the application of crime-
world enforcement techniques to the business 
community, and, interestingly, it also hints at another of 
the SEC’s expanded legal theories of attacks on insider 
trading.  The “mosaic theory” – wherein analysts piece 
“seemingly inconsequential data together with public 
information into a mosaic which reveals material, non-
public information” – has long been seen as a defense to 
an insider trading charge.18  There are hints, however, 
that the prosecutions and enforcement actions stemming 
from the raids will base insider trading charges on just 
such mosaic-type analysis.  The Supreme Court has not 
directly ruled on this issue, although some circuit courts 
have seemingly rejected the theory soon to be advanced 
by the SEC.19  Another tool against public companies 
that selectively disclose material information to third 
parties is Regulation Fair Disclosure.20  

Those prosecutions are in part the result of 
cooperation by individuals involved in the Galleon case, 
reflecting the success of another aspect of the SEC’s 
recent efforts.  While the SEC does not have wiretaps in 
its enforcement arsenal, it has adopted techniques such 
as deferred and non-prosecution agreements and 
cooperation agreements, a mainstay of the criminal 
prosecutor’s toolbox.  A further technique, proffer 
agreements, has been utilized for probably 10 years by 
the Commission.  And it appears that the defense bar has 
taken notice, and availed for their clients the “credit” 
proposed defendants would receive from cooperation.  In 

17 David Glovin, Katherine Burton, and David Scheer, Galleon’s 
Rajaratnam Charged in Biggest Hedge Scheme, BLOOMBERG, 
October 16, 2010, available at http://www.bloomberg.com 
/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=aAEHm_2lsa1A. 

18 Elkind v. Liggett & Myers, Inc., 635 F.2d 156, 165 (2d. Cir.   
1980); State Teachers Retirement Board v. Fluor Corp., 654 
F.2d 843 (2d Cir. 1981). 

19 Elkind v. Liggett & Myers, Inc., 635 F.2d at 165; Dirks v. 
Securities and Exchange Comm’n, 681 F.2d 824 (D.C. Cir. 
1982) (rev’d by Dirks v. Securities and Exchange Comm’n, 463 
U.S. 646 (1983)). 

20 17 C.F.R. §243.100 et seq. (2000). 
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the 10 months since implementation of this program, 
there have been 15-20 cooperation agreements through 
October 2010 entered by the SEC, according to a 
Commission spokesman.  At a September PLI panel on 
Securities Litigation and Enforcement, Executive 
Director of the SEC’s Enforcement Division Lorin 
Reisner claimed that the cooperation framework is 
already yielding dividends as a result of these 
agreements. 

In addition to tactics borrowed from the DOJ (such as 
cooperation and deferred prosecution agreements), the 
SEC’s Enforcement Division now includes many 
attorneys with specialized experience in the securities 
brokerage, money management, private equity, and 
hedge fund industries.  These skills will be useful as the 
Commission, at least publicly, takes aim via specialized 
units at some sectors within the financial industry that 
have been identified with the financial crisis of 2007 - 
2008.  The new specialized units within the Enforcement 
Division, announced on January 13, 2010, are:  Asset 
Management, Market Abuse, Structured and New 
Products, Foreign Corrupt Practices, and Municipal 
Securities and Public Pensions.  Whether this rollout of 
aggressive policies (the specialized units were 
announced six days before the cooperation framework 
became effective) will translate into meaningful and 
quick deterrence and detection of insider trading and 
other fraud is an open question.  And in the SEC’s new 
five-year Strategic Plan, its goal is to bring two-thirds of 
all investigations to conclusion within two years.21

More sophisticated technology is also playing a 
bigger role in SEC investigations.  In 2010, the SEC 
hired the Center for Enterprise Modernization “to help 
sift through thousands of tips each year and come up 
with new computerized tools.”  The SEC has also 
coordinated with FINRA (Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority) to help analyze data and look for signs of 
insider trading.  That coordination has been paying off in 
cases such as SEC v. Devlin, where the SEC, acting on a 
tip from FINRA and working with the FBI and other 
authorities, investigated and uncovered an insider 
trading scheme centered on a Lehman Brothers broker 
who passed to associates inside information obtained 
from his wife.22

———————————————————— 

                                                                                 

21 SEC, Strategic Plan for Fiscal Years 2010-2015, October 25, 
2010, available at http://www.sec.gov/about/ 
secstratplan1015.pdf. 

22 Andrew Ross Sorkin and Michael J. de la Merced, Ex-Lehman 
Trader Charged in Insider Trading Case, THE NEW YORK  

       

Those efforts will become increasingly important if 
the SEC is successful in forcing securities industry SROs 
(self-regulatory organizations) to implement the 
Consolidated Audit Trail (“CAT”), as set forth in a 
Proposed Rule released for comment in June 2010.23  
Currently, the SEC depends upon industry participants 
for reports of suspicious trading activity.  That system, 
which, according to the SEC, is cumbersome and often 
ineffective, would give way to the proposed CAT, a 
centralized repository of real-time trading data 
accessible by the SEC.  The CAT “would permit the 
SEC and the SROs the ability to query and analyze in 
real time all trading activity in covered securities.”24  In 
setting forth the proposed rule, the SEC noted that “[t]he 
lack of cohesive, readily available order and execution 
information creates significant hurdles for investigators 
at both the SROs and at the Commission.”25   

These hurdles, according to the SEC, hamper market 
reconstructions and appear to render the SEC largely 
incapable of mounting a rapid response in a volatile 
marketplace, as was seen on May 6, 2010, during the 
“flash crash.”  In an era of high-frequency trading where 
10,000 stock orders can occur in less than one second, 
the SEC is playing “catch-up” to technological 
advancements in the marketplace.   

Bolstering the SEC’s call for access to real-time 
information is a recent case (which was filed under seal) 
against a senior equity derivatives analyst at Banco 
Santander.  The analyst, Juan Jose Fernandez Garcia, 
and Louis Martin Caro Sanchez, were charged with 
trading on material non-public information in the 
purchase of out-of-the-money call options for Potash 
Corp. of Saskatchewan.  BHP Billiton’s subsequent bid 
for Potash yielded Garcia and Sanchez a $1.1 million 
profit.  The SEC acted quickly on a tip from Interactive 
Brokers, freezing Sanchez and Garcia’s assets before 

 
     footnote continued from previous column… 

      TIMES, December 19, 2008, available at 
http://www.nytimes.com/2008/12/19/business/worldbusiness/1
9iht-19insider.18811589.html. 

23 Consolidated Audit Trail; Proposed Rule, 75 Fed. Reg. 32,556 
(June 8, 2010) (to be codified at 17 C.F.R. pt. 242). 

24 Annette L. Nazareth, SEC Proposes Consolidated Audit Trail, 
HARVARD LAW SCHOOL FORUM ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

AND FINANCIAL REGULATION, available at 
http://blogs.law.harvard.edu/corpgov/2010/07/04/sec-
proposes-consolidated-audit-trail/. 

25 Consolidated Audit Trail, Proposed Rule, supra note 23, at 
32,566. 
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those assets could be moved offshore.  For proponents of 
the CAT, the fortuity of both receiving the tip from a 
broker-dealer and being able to act on it in a timely 
manner illustrates how critical the implementation of the 
CAT has become. 

While the CAT would give the SEC a more 
comprehensive and comprehensible view of market 
activity, the Securities Industry and Financial Markets 
Association (SIFMA) protests that the CAT (which the 
SEC acknowledges will cost nearly $4 billion to 
implement and $2 billion more per year to operate26) “is 
more expansive and expensive than is necessary to 
achieve its intended purposes.”27  According to SIFMA, 
the SEC’s proposal strikes the wrong balance between 
costs and benefits because of the “wide range of data 
elements” broker-dealers would be required to keep 
updated in the CAT.  Indeed, the SEC’s very ability to 
utilize the CAT is an open question.  It is unclear 
whether the SEC, which historically has been stretched 
thin, is an institution that is capable of managing the 
increased workload implicated by the CATT

———————————————————— 

———————————————————— 

28 – or, 
instead, whether the increased data flow will change the 
profile of enforcement actions the SEC chooses to bring. 

Over the past six years, and despite a dip in 2009, 
there has been a steady stream of insider trading cases:  
the SEC brought 42 insider trading actions in FY2004, 
61 in FY2008, and 37 in FY2009.  According to 
Enforcement Director Khuzami, the SEC has already put 
its new organization and authority to good use:  the SEC 
“will close about 32 percent more cases in the fiscal year 
ending Sept. 30 than it did a year earlier.”29

Meanwhile, the dollar amounts involved in some of 
those cases have been much less than before, with the 

Commission seeking disgorgement of profits – in some 
cases below $100,000.  For example, in the last two 
years, the SEC sought disgorgement of $24,000 from 
one defendant, Nicos Stephanou.  In another action, it 
sought disgorgement of $91,976 from defendant Phillip 
Macdonald.  A third action sought disgorgement of 
$83,602 from defendant Gary Navarro.  What this 
means, of course, is that no matter how small the profit 
realized or loss avoided, the SEC will bring the case.  
This should be quite a deterrent to Joe Citizen who 
believes his wrongdoing will fly under the SEC’s radar.  
However, regarding settlements, the SEC reached fewer 
insider trading settlements in FY2009 than in any year 
since 2002, and “the median settlement amount for 
individuals in insider trading cases also fell in 2009, to 
$0.10 million from $0.14 million in FY 2008.”

26 Id.  SEC Chairman Mary Schapiro now says the CAT’s 
potential cost will be one-half the initial estimate. 

27 SIFMA comment regarding Consolidated Audit Trail; Release 
No. 34-62174; File No. S7-11-10, August 17, 2010, available 
at http://www.sec.gov/comments/s7-11-10/s71110-63.pdf. 

28 The workload issue may be compounded by the Southern 
District of New York’s recent ruling in SEC v. Rorech, 2010 
WL 2595111 (S.D.N.Y. June 25, 2010) that, inter alia, credit 
default swaps are securities-based agreements and therefore 
subject to federal securities law.  The ruling in Rorech will 
thus strengthen the SEC’s push to include swaps within the 
CAT’s purview. 

29 Joshua Gallu, SEC’s Khuzami Says New Law Will Boost 
Enforcement, BLOOMBERG, Sept. 22, 2010, available at 
http://www.businessweek.com/news/2010-09-22/sec-s-
khuzami-says-new-law-will-boost-enforcement.html. 

30  
Interestingly, though, despite the closer cooperation 
between the SEC and criminal prosecutors, our review 
of 50 cases from the 18-month period from January of 
2009 through June of 2010 reveals that most of them 
have not involved parallel criminal actions.  However, 
this could be because criminal investigations take longer 
to complete and many times follow the commencement 
or resolution of the SEC’s actions.  All considered, 
though, the SEC’s actions of late demonstrate a 
significant effort within the Commission to rid itself of 
its recent reputation for ineffective, delayed 
enforcement. 

CONCLUSION 

The SEC is clearly trying to sharpen its teeth after 
some embarrassing regulatory lapses and missed 
enforcement opportunities.  Efforts appear to be paying 
off, with two circuit courts adopting the expansive views 
urged by the Commission.  In addition, the SEC is 
pushing for, and in some cases has acquired, enhanced 
investigatory and enforcement tools.  Such tools, in the 
context of an SEC that has actively reformulated its 
structure and approach, including the addition of units 
within the Enforcement Division, indicate that the SEC’s 
future as an effective weapon against insider trading 
looks promising.  If the SEC is able to quickly deprive 
the alleged wrongdoers of the fruits and proceeds of 
their insider trading, it will deter such conduct and send 
a strong message that the cop is back on the beat. ■ 

30 Jan Larsen et al., 2009 SEC Settlements Trends: 3Q09 Update - 
Number Of Settlements Declines in Transitional FY2009, 
MONDAQ BUSINESS BRIEFING, Dec. 8 2009, available at 
http://www.thefreelibrary.com/SEC Settlements Trends: 3Q09 
Update - Number Of Settlements Declines...-a0213799699. 
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